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I.   INTRODUCTION 

 Plaintiffs Dan Neil and Eric Bailey, on behalf of themselves and the Class, move this 

Court for an order preliminarily approving the Settlement Agreement1 and the form and manner 

of class notice, and for this Court to schedule a Fairness Hearing for final approval of the 

Settlement.  The proposed Notice of Class Action Settlement (to which all parties have agreed) is 

attached as Exhibit 2. 

 The proposed settlement includes a payment of $32 million – less settlement 

administration costs, incentive payments to Plaintiffs and Class Counsel’s fees and litigation 

expenses – to the Tribune Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“the ESOP” or “the 

Plan”), which will be allocated among the approximately 13,000 Class Members as benefits 

under the Plan, and then transferred to the Class Members’ accounts in the Tribune 401(k) 

Savings Plan (“401(k) Plan”).    

II. ALLEGATIONS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 In light of the Court’s familiarity with the case, the background facts are stated briefly. 

 This case arises out of the 2007 leveraged buy-out of Tribune Company (“Tribune”) 

which resulted in the ESOP’s ownership of 100% of the stock of Tribune via a complex series of 

agreements referred to collectively as the “Leveraged ESOP Transaction.”  Plaintiffs allege that 

Defendants are fiduciaries and/or parties-in-interest of the Plan within the meaning of ERISA § 

3(21) and (14), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21) and (14); they breached their fiduciary duties of prudence 

and loyalty under ERISA § 404(a)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1), and engaged in prohibited 

transactions under ERISA § 406, 29 U.S.C. § 1106, by, inter alia, causing the ESOP to purchase 

unregistered Tribune stock and causing the ESOP to pay more than fair market value for this 

stock, resulting in losses to the Plan; and Defendants are liable to make good the losses to the 

                            
1 Declaration of Daniel Feinberg (“Feinberg Dec.”) filed herewith, Exhibit 1.  All references to 
“Exh.” are to the Exhibits to the Feinberg Declaration. 
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Plan pursuant to ERISA § 409, 29 U.S.C. §  1109.  Defendants dispute these claims and have 

vigorously defended the litigation. 

 Plaintiffs filed this action more than three years ago, on September 16, 2008.  Dkt. 1.  

Defendants successfully moved to transfer venue from the Central District of California to the 

Northern District of Illinois.  See Dkt. 54.  Shortly thereafter, Tribune filed for bankruptcy 

protection and Plaintiffs dismissed Tribune as a Defendant in this action.  After Tribune filed an 

adversary complaint against Plaintiffs in the Delaware Bankruptcy Court and the parties engaged 

in motion practice regarding the proper scope of the automatic bankruptcy stay (and which court 

had jurisdiction to decide it), the parties agreed that Plaintiffs could file a Second Amended 

Complaint and Defendants would then move to dismiss.  The Court granted in part and denied in 

part Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, dismissing various individual Defendants (including current 

and former members of Tribune’s Board of Directors) from the lawsuit and holding that 

Plaintiffs could not recover monetary damages against Defendants Zell and EGI-TRB for their 

participation in any alleged violations of ERISA, but that Plaintiffs’ other claims were 

cognizable.  Dkt. 128.   

Over the last three years, the parties have engaged in extensive discovery, including 

reviewing millions of pages of documents produced by Defendants and third parties, and have 

exchanged and responded to Interrogatories and Requests for Admission.  Feinberg Dec. at ¶ 8.  

Plaintiffs took the depositions of sixteen witnesses and Defendants deposed the two Class 

Representatives.  Id. at ¶ 9.  Plaintiffs and GreatBanc also retained experts and began the process 

of producing expert reports.  Id. at ¶ 10.  The docket before this Court now has over 440 entries. 

After an unsuccessful mediation session on April 1, 2010, litigation continued.  Plaintiffs 

filed a motion for summary judgment on their claim that GreatBanc’s purchase of unregistered 

Tribune stock on behalf of the ESOP was a prohibited transaction in violation of ERISA § 406, 

29 U.S.C. § 1106, and Defendant GreatBanc filed a motion for summary judgment on its defense 

that Plaintiffs’ damages were capped at either $2.8 million, the amount of principal paid by the 

ESOP as part of its only cash payment on the ESOP Note, or $15.3 million, the amount of 
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principal and interest paid by the ESOP in its only cash payment on the ESOP Note.  Dkts. 187, 

239.  The Court granted Plaintiffs’ motion and denied GreatBanc’s motion.  Dkts. 335, 392.  

Plaintiffs moved for class certification, and the class was certified in March 2011.  Dkts. 259, 

401.  There are approximately 13,000 class members who fall within the following definition of 

the Class approved by this Court: “…all individuals who are or, at any time on or after the 2007 

Leveraged ESOP Transaction, were (1) participants in the Tribune ESOP who received or were 

entitled to an allocation to their ESOP Stock Account and/or ESOP Cash Account; or (2) 

beneficiaries of such participants.”  Dkt. 401. 

Following these rulings, the parties agreed to participate in a second non-binding 

mediation.  On May 2, 2011, Judge Carey entered an order in Tribune’s pending bankruptcy 

proceedings appointing the Honorable Kevin Gross as mediator.  The mediation addressed the 

resolution of claims and related matters arising from alleged violations of ERISA in connection 

with the Tribune ESOP.  See Exh. 3 (Order Appointing Mediator for Mediation of Certain 

ERISA-Related Claims).  The claims which were the subject of the ERISA Mediation included 

the following: 
 
a) The Neil class action for alleged violations of ERISA; 
 
b) Claims of GreatBanc Trust Company (“GreatBanc”), as trustee of the ESOP, 
against Tribune and its affiliates for contribution or indemnity arising from any 
determination of liability of GreatBanc in the Neil action; 
 
c) The proofs of claim asserted by the United States Department of Labor (“DOL”) 
against the Debtors for liability under ERISA for breaching their fiduciary duty to 
monitor and correct the performance of GreatBanc, and for knowingly participating in the 
April 1, 2007 stock purchase, which the DOL contends was a prohibited transaction; and 
 
d) The proofs of claim asserted by the United States Department of the Treasury 
(“IRS”) seeking to impose an excise tax on Tribune pursuant to section 4975 of the 
Internal Revenue Code, which provides for a tax on the amount involved in a prohibited 
transaction under ERISA, and certain other IRS claims related to the ESOP 

(collectively, the “ERISA-Related Claims”).  Id.  
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On May 4, 2011, Judge Gross conducted a mediation in Wilmington, Delaware.  

Representatives and counsel for 1) Tribune Company 2) GreatBanc Trust Company: 3) U.S. 

Department of Labor; 4) Internal Revenue Service; 5) Official Committee of Unsecured 

Creditors; 6) Oaktree Capital; 7) Neil Plaintiffs, and 8) Fiduciary Insurers from six separate 

insurance companies participated in the mediation.  All told, approximately 44 people 

participated in the mediation.  As a result of this initial meeting and extensive subsequent 

negotiations between the parties over the next five months, the parties reached this Settlement on 

behalf of the Tribune ESOP and all of its participants.  Feinberg Dec. ¶ 13. 

III. TERMS OF THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT 

 The terms of the proposed settlement are set forth in the Settlement Agreement, which 

was executed by the parties and counsel on October 18, 2011.  Exh. 1.  In short, the Settlement 

Agreement provides for a payment of $32 million, inclusive of payments to the Class, Class 

Counsel’s attorneys’ fees and litigation expenses, settlement administration costs, the cost of an 

independent fiduciary, and incentive awards to the Named Plaintiffs, in return for a release that 

extinguishes claims against the Defendants, Tribune, and their insurers.  The $32 million will be 

paid as follows:  $1 million by GreatBanc, $4.45 million by Tribune, and the remainder by their 

insurers.1  The Insurers are comprised of Illinois National Insurance Company (Chartis), as 

primary fiduciary liability insurance provider, and Federal Insurance Company (Chubb), AXIS 

Insurance Company, U.S. Specialty Insurance Company, and St. Paul Mercury Insurance 

Company (Travelers) as excess providers. 

 The settlement is contingent not only on preliminary and final approval by this Court, but 

approval by Judge Carey.  There were no objections filed to ERISA Claim Settlement with the 

Bankruptcy Court.  Feinberg Dec. ¶ 16.  The Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the 

Settlement on October 19, 2011.  See Exh. 4.  The Bankruptcy Court’s approval eliminated one 

                            
1 See http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/agreement-reached-to-settle-erisa-claims-
related-to-tribune-company-esop-128105518.html (last visited Oct. 20, 2011). 
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contingency to the Settlement.  Exh. 1 § 2.2.  The Bankruptcy Court also modified the automatic 

stay to the extent necessary to allow Tribune and its insurers to pay portions of the settlement 

amount.  Finally, the Bankruptcy Court eliminated one other contingency to this Settlement by 

also approving Tribune’s IRS Pension Claim Settlement.  Id. § 2.4; Exh. 5.  In doing so Judge 

Carey resolved all the ESOP tax issues in consideration of a $7 million payment by Tribune.  

The $7 million dollar payment to the IRS is a separate payment, in addition to the payment 

Tribune is making in the Neil Settlement.   

 The following summarizes the principal terms of the Settlement: 

Settlement Amount and Timing of Payment 

 The Settlement Agreement provides that Defendants, Tribune, and their insurers will pay 

$17.25 million into a qualified settlement account within 30 days of the later of (i) this Court 

granting preliminary approval, (ii) the Bankruptcy Court approving the Settlement, or (iii) entry 

by the Bankruptcy Court of an order modifying the automatic stay, to the extent it applies, to 

permit Defendants’ insurers to pay their respective portions of the Settlement Amount.  Id. at § 

3.2.1.   

 Fifteen business days after the Settlement is finally approved and the deadlines for 

appeals have expired (or, if any appeal is filed, after final resolution of that appeal), Defendants, 

Tribune, and their insurers will pay the remaining $14.75 million into the settlement account.  Id. 

at § 3.2.3. 

 Ten business days later, the Settlement Amount, less any approved service payments to 

Plaintiffs, approved attorneys’ fees and costs, and settlement administration costs, will be 

distributed to the ESOP.  Id. at § 6.1.   

 No later than 45 business days thereafter, the Net Settlement Amount will be allocated to 

the participants and beneficiaries of the ESOP pursuant to an agreed-upon formula to be 

approved by this Court.  Id. at §§ 6.2, 2.3.2.  The proposed allocation formula is based upon the 

Class Members’ pro rata stock allocation under the ESOP as of the December 31, 2010 

calculation date.  Id. at § 6.2.  As soon as reasonably practicable, the Net Settlement Amount 
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allocated to Class Members’ individual ESOP accounts will be transferred to Class Members’ 

accounts in the 401(k) Plan.  For Class Members who are no longer participants in the 401(k) 

Plan, the 401(k) Plan Administrator will re-activate or establish new 401(k) accounts for such 

Class Members for purposes of the Settlement allocation.  Id. at § 6.4.  Each Class Member’s 

settlement allocation will be invested according to his or her current investment allocation under 

the 401(k) Plan.  If the Class Member has not made an investment allocation election, then the 

Class Member’s settlement allocation shall be invested in the 401(k) Plan’s default investment. 

Mutual Releases 

Plaintiffs and the Class give a broad release of claims against Tribune, GreatBanc, and all 

other parties to the Settlement based upon, arising out of, or in any way related to the ESOP.  Id. 

at §§ 8.1-8.3.   

Defendants release each other from all claims arising out of this Action or relating to the 

ESOP.   Id. at §§ 8.6-8.11.  Finally, Tribune, GreatBanc, Zell, EGI-TRB, and the DOL release 

any and all claims against Plaintiffs and the Class in their capacities as participants and/or 

beneficiaries under the Plan, relating to the issues being settled.  Id. at § 8.12.   

None of these releases affect the rights of Tribune’s creditors to pursue claims arising out 

of the Bankruptcy reorganization plan.  Id. at § 8.13.   

ERISA-Related Training and Education  

In addition to payment of the Settlement Amount, Tribune and GreatBanc are resolving 

claims asserted by the Department of Labor (“DOL”) in Tribune’s bankruptcy proceedings by 

agreeing to engage in training and education relating to ERISA, among other things.  See id. at 

§§ 7.2-7.5. 

Independent Fiduciary  

 The Settlement is contingent upon an Independent Fiduciary approving the Settlement 

and the release of claims on behalf of the Tribune ESOP, as required by Department of Labor 

Class Exemption 2003-39, which is designed to ensure that settlement of fiduciary litigation does 

not constitute a prohibited transaction.  Id. at § 2.1.  (See the Prohibited Transaction Class 
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Exemption 2003-39, “Release of Claims and Extensions of Credit in Connection with 

Litigation,” issued December 31, 2003, by the United States Department of Labor, 68 Fed. Reg. 

75,632, as amended.)  The Court will have the benefit of the Independent Fiduciary’s report as it 

will be available prior to the final approval hearing.  The Independent Fiduciary will be solely 

responsible for deciding any disputes and interpretive issues regarding the allocation of the 

Settlement Amount to the Class Members.  Id. at § 6.5.  Fiduciary Counselors of Washington, 

D.C. has been selected as the Independent Fiduciary by agreement of Plaintiffs, Tribune, and the 

Secretary of Labor.  Id. at § 2.1.1.  See also Exh. 7.  The first $50,000 in fees and costs of the 

Independent Fiduciary will be paid from the Settlement Amount.  The next $50,000 in fees and 

costs of the Independent Fiduciary, if any, will be paid by Tribune.  The fees and costs of the 

Independent Fiduciary in excess of $100,000, if any, will be paid from the Settlement Amount.  

Exh. 1 at § 2.1.2. 

Attorneys’ Fees and Costs 

 Class Counsel will apply for up to 25% of the Settlement Amount (no more than $8 

million) as a common fund fee award, and an award to Class Counsel’s reasonable costs of 

litigation.  Id. at § 4.1.1.  All attorneys’ fees and costs approved by the Court will be paid out of 

the Settlement Amount.  Id. at § 4.1.2.  Plaintiffs do not have the right to withdraw from the 

Settlement if the Court awards less than 25% of the Settlement Amount.  Id. at § 4.1.3.  

Defendants, Tribune, and the insurers will take no position on Class Counsel’s fee application.  

Id.   

Incentive Payments 

 Class Counsel will apply for a service incentive payment of up to $5,000 to each of the 

two named Plaintiffs, which shall be paid out of the Settlement Amount.  Id. at § 4.2.1.  

Defendants, Tribune, and the insurers will take no position on Plaintiffs’ incentive payment 

application.  Id. at § 4.2.2.   

// 

// 
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Notice to the Settlement Class 

 Plaintiffs have selected Garden City Group as the Settlement Administrator who will be 

responsible for giving notice to the Class in a form to be approved by the Court.  See id. at § 

2.3.3.  Garden City’s credentials are appended as Exhibit 6 to the Feinberg Declaration.  

Plaintiffs request that the Court approve the form of Class Notice appended as Exhibit 2 to the 

Feinberg Declaration.  The Notice will be sent by first-class mail no later than five (5) business 

days after this Court grants preliminary approval of the Settlement.  Id. at § 2.3.3.2.   

Dispute Resolution 

 Disputes over the construction or interpretation of the Settlement Agreement shall be 

decided by the District Court or the Bankruptcy Court, whichever is appropriate, unless 

otherwise agreed by the Parties.  Id. at § 26.1.  Upon final approval of the Settlement, the District 

Court shall retain jurisdiction for a period of two years to enforce the terms of and decide any 

disputes over the Settlement.  Id. 

IV. THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT MERITS PRELIMINARY APPROVAL. 

A. The Standard for Preliminary Approval. 

 A class action may not be settled or compromised without approval by the district court.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e); see Amchem Products Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 617 (1997).  The law 

encourages settlement of class actions, and a voluntary settlement is the preferred method of 

class action resolution.  See Isby v. Bayh, 75 F.3d 1191, 1196 (7th Cir. 1996); E.E.O.C. v. Hiram 

Walker & Sons, Inc., 768 F.2d 884, 888-89 (7th Cir. 1985).  

 Approval under Rule 23(e) involves a two-step process in which the court (1) determines 

whether the proposed settlement deserves preliminary approval, and if so, then directs notice to 

the class for comment and then, after notice is given to class members, (2) determines whether 

final approval is warranted.  See, e.g., In re AT&T Mobility Wireless Data Services Sales Litig., 

270 F.R.D. 330, 346 (N.D. Ill. 2010) (citing Armstrong v. Bd. of Sch. Dirs. of City of Milwaukee, 

616 F.2d 305, 314 (7th Cir. 1980)). 
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 Preliminary approval is an initial assessment of the fairness of the proposed settlement by 

the Court, on the basis of written submissions and informal presentations from the settling 

parties.  Manual for Complex Litigation, § 21.632 (4th ed. 2004).  The purpose of the 

preliminary approval process is to determine whether the proposed settlement is within the 

“range of reasonableness of a settlement that ultimately could be given final approval by the 

Court” and thus whether notice to the class of the terms and conditions and the scheduling of a 

formal fairness hearing is worthwhile.  See Tucker v. Walgreens Co., 2007 WL 291558, at *3 

(S.D. Ill. Oct. 5, 2007); 4 Alba Conte et al., Newberg on Class Actions (“Newberg”) § 11.25 (4th 

ed. 2002).  See also Armstrong, 616 F.2d at 314.  The Settlement is well within the range of 

reasonableness that ultimately would result in final approval. 

B. The Proposed Settlement Is the Result of Arm’s-Length, Informed 
Negotiations Following Hard-Fought Litigation. 

 The proposed Settlement was reached after three years of hard-fought litigation and 

extensive settlement negotiations.  Prior to reaching the Settlement, counsel completed extensive 

discovery; briefed multiple motions, including a motion to transfer venue, a motion to dismiss, a 

motion for judgment on the pleadings, a motion for class certification, and two motions for 

summary judgment.  Feinberg Dec. ¶¶ 8-10; see supra p. 2-3.  Discovery and motion practice 

narrowed the issues and parties in the case and shed significant light on the strengths and 

weaknesses of the parties’ claims and defenses.   

 Throughout the settlement negotiations, the parties were advised by attorneys, consultants 

and experts, including individuals with expertise in ERISA fiduciary liability issues and 

computing potential damages in cases involving ERISA fiduciary liability.  Feinberg Dec. at ¶¶ 

10, 20-25.  The parties and Defendants’ insurers participated in two full-day mediation sessions 

as well as extensive post-mediation negotiation sessions, some of which also involved Tribune, 

the Department of Labor, the IRS, and the Committee of Unsecured Creditors in the Tribune 

bankruptcy.  Id. at ¶¶ 12-13. 

// 
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C. The Proposed Settlement Will Provide Significant Benefits to the Class. 

 The Settlement will provide the Plan with a substantial recovery, which will inure to the 

benefit of its participants and beneficiaries, the Class Members.       

Although Plaintiffs have already prevailed on their prohibited transaction claim against 

GreatBanc and believe they would prevail on additional claims, there was no guarantee that the 

Court would have selected the damages model most favorable to Plaintiffs and the Class.  

Plaintiffs also faced appeal risk.  See Williams v. Rohm & Haas Pension Plan, -- F.3d --, 2011 

WL 3874460 at *3 (7th Cir. Sept. 2, 2011) (noting that district court properly took into account 

the prospect of appellate review in evaluating the risk and cost of the litigation for purposes of 

approving the settlement).  More importantly, Plaintiffs face risk relating to their ability to 

collect a judgment.  In several rulings, the Court held that (1) various individual Defendants 

(current and former members of the Board of Directors, among others) were dismissed from the 

lawsuit, (2) Plaintiffs could not recover monetary damages against Defendants Zell and EGI-

TRB for their alleged participation in breaches of fiduciary duty, (3) Defendant GreatBanc 

engaged in a prohibited transaction under ERISA by causing the ESOP to purchase unregistered 

Tribune stock, and (4) the losses to the ESOP were not limited to the cash payments made on the 

ESOP loan.  As a result of these rulings, and the fact that Tribune was dropped as a Defendant 

due to its bankruptcy, Plaintiffs could only recover monetary damages from GreatBanc (and its 

insurers).  Plaintiffs determined that GreatBanc would not have assets to satisfy a judgment in 

excess of insurance policy limits. Because defense costs for GreatBanc and other insureds 

(including Tribune and Zell) are deducted from the liability limits for the insurance policies, 

Plaintiffs had to consider the amount of insurance that would be available to satisfy a judgment:  

the Settlement Amount approximates the amount of insurance that would have been likely to 

remain following a trial.  Feinberg Dec. ¶ 14.  Thus, the Settlement payment of $32 million is 

well within the range of potential recoveries for the Class in this case.   

In return for the $32 million Settlement payment, Plaintiffs and the Class provide the 

parties to the agreement with a broad general release of their ESOP-related claims.  It is doubtful 

that there are any ESOP-related claims of any value outside the Neil litigation. Tribune’s 
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bankruptcy rendered the stock in the ESOP worthless and shareholders were left with the lowest 

priority claims in the bankruptcy proceedings – in other words, the ESOP’s potential bankruptcy 

claims had no value.  By participating in the mediation under the auspices of the Bankruptcy 

Court in Delaware, the Class was able to achieve a contribution to the Settlement from the 

Tribune.  Id. at ¶ 15.  Thus, while the class members are also providing a release to the Tribune 

they are receiving a settlement contribution from it that would not have been available from any 

judgment entered by this Court.  Tribune’s contribution of $4.45 million was essential to 

achieving the $32 million settlement which, in Class Counsel’s view, was approximately equal to 

the amount that would have been available for the Class to collect if the case had been 

successfully tried to a verdict and upheld on appeal.  Id. at ¶¶ 14-15. 

The Settlement does not provide for “unduly preferential treatment of class 

representatives, or of segments of the class.”  Manual for Complex Litigation, § 30.41, p. 237.  

All Class Members’ shares, including those of the Class representatives, will be calculated 

according to the same plan of allocation, and will be based on the number of shares in their Plan 

accounts as of December 31, 2010.  The Settlement provides that the Settlement Fund will be 

paid into the ESOP and thereafter the Settlement Amount allocated to the Class members will be 

transferred to Class members’ accounts in the Tribune 401(k) Savings Plan (“401(k) Plan”).  

Exh. 1 at §§ 6.2, 6.4.  The 401(k) Plan Administrator will re-activate or establish new 401(k) 

accounts for Class members who are no longer participants in the 401(k) Plan as of the date of 

allocation.  Id. at § 6.4.  Thus, all Class Members will receive their share of the Settlement as 

tax-deferred retirement funds, ensuring that Class Members receive maximum value from the 

Settlement.  The average allocation to the 13,000 class members is approximately $2,500 per 

Class Member before fees and costs are deducted. 

D. The Independent Fiduciary Contingency is Appropriate and Necessary. 

 The Settlement Agreement could, in the absence of an exemption, violate ERISA’s 

prohibited transaction rules, see 29 U.S.C. § 1106, because GreatBanc is both a Defendant in this 

Action and the Trustee of the ESOP, and GreatBanc would thus have a conflict of interest in 

deciding whether to release claims on behalf of the Plan.  Accordingly, one of the conditions of 
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the Settlement is that an Independent Fiduciary be retained to review and approve the terms of 

the Settlement and the release of claims on behalf of the Plan.  Exh.1 at § 2.1.   

 “In response to concerns raised by the pension community regarding the impact of 

ERISA’s prohibited transaction provisions on the settlement of litigation by employee benefits 

plans with parties in interest,” the Department of Labor issued a Prohibited Transaction 

Exemption (“PCTE”) outlining the circumstances under which a plan could release its claims 

against parties in interest as part of a settlement without running afoul of ERISA’s prohibited 

transaction restrictions.  PTCE 2003-39, Class Exemption for the Release of Claims and 

Extensions of Credit in Connection with Litigation, 68 Fed. Reg. 75,632 (Dec. 31, 2003) (“PTCE 

2003-39”) specifies the standards which a Plan and its fiduciaries must satisfy in order to enter 

into a settlement in which the Plan releases claims against parties in interest.  PTCE 2003-39 

indicates that the plans (through their fiduciaries) must select a fiduciary to review the terms of 

the settlement that has “no relationship to, or interest in, any of the other parties involved in the 

litigation, other than the plan, that might affect its best judgment as a fiduciary.”  Id. at 75,638.  

Here, Tribune, with Plaintiffs’ approval and consent, has selected Fiduciary Counselors as the 

Independent Fiduciary.  Exh. 1 at § 2.1.1.   

 PTCE 2003-39 states that the fiduciary’s decisions in authorizing a settlement must be 

arrived at through a “prudent decision-making process.”  The fiduciary must make a 

determination that (1) “the settlement is reasonable in light of the plan’s likelihood of full 

recovery, the risks and costs of litigation, and the value of claims foregone,” (2) “[t]he terms and 

conditions of the transaction are no less favorable to the plan than comparable arms-length terms 

and conditions that would have been agreed to by unrelated parties under similar circumstances,” 

and (3) “[t]he transaction is not part of an agreement, arrangement, or understanding designed to 

benefit a party in interest.”  68 Fed. Reg. at 75,639.  

 PTCE 2003-39 does not alter the standard rules governing the Plan’s payment of 

fiduciaries.  ERISA provides that a plan may pay a party in interest (including a fiduciary) for 

services rendered on the plan’s behalf and necessary for the operation of the plan provided that 
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the party in interest receives no more than reasonable compensation for such services.  ERISA § 

408(b)(2), 29 U.S.C. 1108(b)(2).  PTCE 2003-39 explains that [a]s with any other expense, the 

Department [of Labor] expects that fiduciaries will engage in prudent cost/benefit analysis to 

select the appropriate independent fiduciary in each case.”  68 Fed. Reg. at 75,635.  It further 

notes that “[i]n some cases, the cost of the independent fiduciary may be included in the damages 

claimed by the plan and may be reimbursed by the defendant in settling the litigation.”  Here, the 

cost of the Independent Fiduciary will be paid out of the Settlement Amount funded by 

Defendants, Tribune, and their insurers, up to $50,000 and over $100,000.  Exh. 1 at § 2.1.2.  

Fiduciary Counselors has agreed to charge $50,000 for its services as Independent Fiduciary in 

this case.  Feinberg Dec. ¶ 18.   

 The Independent Fiduciary’s report will be filed with the Court in advance of the final 

approval hearing.  Ex. 1 at § 2.1.4. 

E. The Requested Attorneys’ Fees and Payments to the Class Representatives 
for Service to the Class Are Reasonable.  

 The Settlement provides significant relief for all Class members with respect to the 

claims asserted in the lawsuit.  In addition, in provides that the Class representatives may seek 

service incentive compensation payments of $5,000 each, which they intend to do by motion in 

conjunction with their motion for final approval of the Settlement.  Preliminarily, however, 

Plaintiffs note that the service incentive payments are reasonable.  The service incentive 

payments are intended to recognize the named Plaintiffs’ service to the Class in responding to 

discovery requests, preparing for and attending their depositions, monitoring the progress of the 

litigation, and consulting with Class Counsel regarding litigation decisions.  Feinberg Dec. ¶ 11.  

Plaintiff Neil resides in North Carolina and Plaintiff Bailey resides in California.  Both Plaintiffs 

traveled to Chicago for their depositions.  See Karraker v. Rent-A-Center, Inc., 492 F.3d 896, 

899 (7th Cir. 2007) (holding that in some class actions, incentive compensation to class 

representatives is necessary to induce plaintiffs to assume the risks associated with being the 

named plaintiff); Cook v. Niedert, 142 F.3d 1004, 1016 (7th Cir. 1998) (noting that relevant 
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factors in deciding whether an incentive award is appropriate include “the amount of time and 

effort the plaintiff expended in pursuing the litigation” and the degree to which the class has 

benefitted from these efforts); In re Continental Illinois Sec. Litig., 962 F.2d 566, 571-72 (7th 

Cir. 1992) (holding that incentive compensation payments to class representatives are necessary 

to induce named plaintiffs’ participation, and should be used to compensate plaintiffs for their 

risk and time).  The contemplated request for an incentive award of $5,000 to the Class 

representatives in this case will be disclosed to the Class in the Class Notice, so that the Court 

may consider any objections that the Class Members raise to the incentive awards.  Exh. 2, p. 5. 

 The Settlement Agreement also provides that Class Counsel may move for payment out 

of the Settlement Fund of fees and reimbursement of costs.  Exh. 1, § 4.1.1.  As disclosed in the 

Class Notice, Class Counsel intend to seek an award of fees of 25 percent of the Settlement Fund 

($8,000,000), plus costs of approximately $425,000, which were reasonably expended in the 

litigation, primarily on expert witness fees, deposition costs, and setting up and maintaining a 

discovery database.  Exh. 2, p. 5.  As also disclosed in the Class Notice, the motion for attorneys’ 

fees and costs will be filed soon after the mailing of the Class Notice, and the motion and 

supporting papers will be posted on a website so that Class Members may review the motion and 

all supporting documentation well in advance of the deadline for submitting objections.  Id.  

Awards of attorneys’ fees from common funds created on behalf of a class often represent 20% 

to 30% of the fund recovered.  See Williams, 2011 WL 3874460 at *5 (noting that the market 

rate for ERISA class action attorneys is a contingency fee between 25% and 33%); Florin v. 

Nationsbank of Georgia, 60 F.3d 1245, 1248-49 (7th Cir. 1995); see also Newberg § 14.6 (“The 

common fund doctrine”).   

 For all of these reasons, the proposed Settlement falls within the range of reasonableness, 

and should be submitted to Class Members for their comments. 

// 
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V. THE PROPOSED NOTICE SATISFIES DUE PROCESS AND SHOULD BE 
APPROVED. 

 Under Rule 23(e), the court “must direct notice in a reasonable manner to all class 

members who would be bound by the propos[ed settlement].”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(1); see 

Mangone v. First USA Bank, 206 F.R.D. 222, 231-32 (S.D. Ill. 2001).  Class members are 

entitled to receive “the best notice practicable” under the circumstances.  Burns v. Elrod, 757 

F.2d 151, 154 (7th Cir. 1985) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(2)).  Although the precise form of 

notice is discretionary with the court, a proper notice should (1) describe the facts underlying the 

action and the class, (2) describe the terms of the settlement, (3) disclose any benefits provided to 

class representatives, (4) provide information regarding attorneys’ fees, (5) state the time and 

place of the final hearing, (6) provide counsel’s contact information and instructions on how to 

object and/or make inquiries, and (7) explain the procedure for allocation.  Manual for Complex 

Litigation § 21.312 (4th ed. 2004).   

 In addition, Rule 23(e) gives the district court discretion as to the manner of the notice.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(1).  It is well-established that notice sent by first class mail to each member 

of a settlement class “who can be identified through reasonable effort” constitutes reasonable 

notice.  Eisen v. Carlisle & Jacquelin, 417 U.S. 156, 173-77 (1974); Manual for Complex 

Litigation § 21.311 (explaining that individual notice via mail is preferred when names and 

addresses are known).   

 The notice standard is satisfied here.  Plaintiffs propose to use individualized notice by 

first-class mail to send the proposed Notice of Class Action Settlement to the Class Members.  

First-class mail is the means best calculated to reach each Class Member who is affected by the 

terms of the proposed Settlement.  In addition, Class Counsel will post the Notice and related 

documents on a website, www.tribunesettlement.com.   

 The proposed Notice describes the terms of the Settlement, sets forth the procedure for 

comments and objections, provides specifics on the date, time, and place of the final settlement 

approval hearing, enables Class Members to exercise their rights and make informed decisions 
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regarding their views of the fairness, adequacy and reasonableness of the proposed settlement, 

and provides information as to how to obtain additional information regarding this litigation and 

the Settlement Agreement (including providing the website created by Class Counsel, 

www.tribunesettlement.com).  Exh. 2. 

 Plaintiffs propose that the Notice be mailed no later than five business days after entry of 

the Order granting preliminary approval of the Settlement.  Plaintiffs further propose that the 

Class Members have 46 calendar days after the mailing of the Class Notice within which to 

submit objections to the Settlement, including to the requested attorneys’ fees, costs, or incentive 

awards.  This period will be more than sufficient to give Class Members the opportunity to 

comment on the Settlement.  Accordingly, the notice plan along with the accompanying Class 

Notice fulfills all requirements of adequate notice and should be approved.  Newberg § 8.37 

(noting that no rigid minimum time interval applies and that most approved settlements show a 

range of 30 to 60 day deadlines to object, opt out, or file claims).  See also Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(c)(2); Manual for Complex Litigation, 3d, § 30.21. 

VI. CONCLUSION. 

 In conclusion, Plaintiffs request that the Court set the following deadlines: 

• Five business days after entry of the Court’s Preliminary Approval Order:  

Class Notice to be mailed; 

• 46 calendar days after the Class Notice is mailed: Postmark deadline for class 

member objections; 

• At least 50 business days before Final Approval Hearing:  Plaintiffs to file 

motion for attorneys’ fees, costs, and class representative enhancements; 

• At least 75 days after Class Notice is mailed: Hearing on final approval and 

motion for attorneys’ fees. 

 These dates and proposed findings concerning the preliminary approval of the Settlement 

are included in Plaintiffs’ Proposed Order filed herewith.  The Proposed Order tracks the 

Case: 1:08-cv-06833 Document #: 450-1  Filed: 10/20/11 Page 21 of 22 PageID #:14255Case: 1:08-cv-06833 Document #: 462 Filed: 10/24/11 Page 20 of 21 PageID #:14513



 

17 
 

Settlement Agreement paragraph 2.3.1, which anticipates that the Court will make certain 

specified findings concerning Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Approval. 

 
Dated: October 20, 2011   Respectfully submitted,  
 

              /s/ Michael M. Mulder                  
                                     One of the Attorneys for Plaintiffs  
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